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Defendant Bank of America Corporation (“Bank of America”)! respectfully submits this
Reply Memorandum of Law in Further Support of its Motion to Dismiss the Complaint and in
response to Plaintiffs’ Memorandum of Points and Authorities In Opposition to Motion to
Dismiss by Bank of America Corporation (“Opposition” or “Opp.”). For the reasons set forth
herein and for the reasons stated more fully in Bank of America’s May 8, 2002 moving brief
(“BofA Mem.”), the Consolidated Complaint (the “Complaint™) should be dismissed with
prejudice pursuant to Rules 9(b) and 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Reform Act”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Justice requires that the Court not permit Plaintiffs to rely on conclusory allegations to tie
Bank of America to the alleged accounting fraud perpetrated by Enron and other parties. In its
moving brief, Bank of America pointed out that the Complaint describes at great length the
activities of Enron, Enron’s officers and directors and Arthur Andersen but contains only
conclusory allegations concerning the activities of Bank of America. The Complaint attempts to
tie Bank of America to the alleged Enron accounting fraud by innuendo and rhetoric but not
facts.

The Complaint pleads no facts that would permit the inference that Bank of America’s
subsidiaries played any role other than what is normally expected of commercial and investment
banks. The mere allegation that Bank of America was an underwriter or lender does not lead to
the conclusion that Bank of America knew of or participated in any fraud at Enron. While

Plaintiffs may be frustrated by Enron’s bankruptcy and Arthur Andersen’s lack of resources, that

I Plaintiffs name Bank of America as a defendant and defines it as including its
subsidiary Banc of America Securities LLC. Cplt. § 104. For the purpose of this brief, Bank of
America will use the same term to refer to both companies although, contrary to the allegations
of the Complaint, Bank of America Corporation, a holding company, was not a participant in
any of the alleged transactions and should therefore be dismissed. See infra Point 1.
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frustration does not justify the baseless and illogical allegations that Plaintiffs have adopted to try
to find deep pockets.?

Bank of America cited overwhelming authority in its moving brief demonstrating that
Plaintiffs’ conclusory allegations do not meet the pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) and the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“Reform Act”). The Opposition avoids
addressing most of this authority. Nor does the Opposition explain why this Court should sustain
a Complaint in which:

® No facts are alleged showing specific false statements made by Bank of America in
the challenged Registration Statements or analyst reports;

e No facts are alleged showing how any statements were misleading;

e No facts are alleged showing why any statements were false when made; and

e No facts are alleged showing how Bank of America knew any statements were false.

Instead, Plaintiffs lump together Enron, Enron’s lawyers, Andersen and the bank
defendants and state that all the statements were made by the group without specifying who said
what. See, e.g., Cplt. 9] 14, 54. The only specifics alleged in the Complaint relate to acts by

Enron — not Bank of America.3 Nor do Plaintiffs plead with particularity Bank of America’s

alleged involvement in a scheme to defraud.

2 Plaintiffs’ assertion that the Reform Act was not aimed at eliminating cases like this one
because it is not “frivolous” misses the point. The Reform Act focuses on whether claims
against any defendant are frivolous. The seriousness of the allegations relating to Enron do not
dictate the conclusion that any person or entity that had contact with Enron is a viable defendant.
In many instances, Plaintiffs fail to address Bank of America’ conduct separately from the other
defendants, which gives some of the statements in the Opposition the appearance of a word
processing error. Although the Complaint does not allege that Bank of America had anything to
do with Joint Energy Development Investment Limited Partnership (“JEDI”), Chewco, New
Power or Hawaii 125-0, entire subsections of the factual overview in the Opposition to Bank of
America’s motion are devoted to those entities. While banks other than Bank of America are
mentioned in the portions of the Complaint discussing those entities, Bank of America is not
mentioned once. Opp. at 4-5, 18-19; Cplt. 99 9-11, 42.

3 Throughout the Opposition, Plaintiffs add the words “including Bank of America”
where the Complaint refers generally to defendants or to Enron’s “banks,” bankers, or “several
of Enron’s banks.” See, e.g., Cplt. 11 21, 24, 52, 57. On other occasions, the Opposition
misleadingly asserts that Enron and its banks made certain statements, citing paragraphs of the
Complaint which do not mention either Bank of America, defendants or the bank defendants.

2
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Plaintiffs’ allegations concerning Bank of America’s role in LIM2 lack the required
statement of basis for information and belief pleading. Plaintiffs’ mocking footnote — which
states that they have a factual basis for their conclusory allegations about that role but will not
tell Bank of America or the Court what that basis is — constitutes a ground for dismissal under
the Reform Act. The Fifth Circuit recently made it clear that such an approach to pleading will
not be tolerated. ABC Arbitrage Plaintiffs Group v. Serje Tchuruk, No. 01-40645, 2002 U.S.
App. LEXIS 9112 (5th Cir. May 13, 2002). The Reform Act requires plaintiffs to set forth the
factual basis for their allegations.*

The Complaint is nothing more than a cynical attempt by Plaintiffs to tar Bank of
America with wrongdoing at Enron by using conclusory allegations of complicity. This Rule
9(b) and the Reform Act do not permit. Nor does our justice system permit the use of guilt by

association to establish liability.

ARGUMENT

L PLAINTIFFS DO NOT UNDERMINE BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION’S SHOWING THAT IT IS NOT A PROPER PARTY

Plaintiffs have two responses to the argument that they incorrectly named Bank of
America Corporation, a holding company, as a party to this action instead of its operating
subsidiary or subsidiaries. First, Plaintiffs argue that because the Complaint alleges actions by
both the investment and commercial banking subsidiaries of Bank of America Corporation,
naming the parent instead of the relevant subsidiary “seems appropriate.” Opp. at 3 n.6. While

it may seem appropriate to Plaintiffs, their position is inconsistent with legal authority. See

See, e.g., Opp. at p. 17 (citing Cplt.] 39). It is well-settled that assertions that are not based upon
allegations in a complaint may not be considered on a motion to dismiss.

4 The Opposition misquotes a Dow Jones article which is alleged to state “that high
powered finance firms such as CS First Boston, Merrill Lynch, JP Morgan and Bank America,
were lured into the LIM2 partnership....” The article, which is correctly quoted in the
Complaint (Cplt. § 645), does not mention Bank of America. See BofA Reply Appendix Exh. 1.
Plaintiffs also attach as an exhibit to the Appendix accompanying their Opposition a document
that purportedly lists the LYM2 limited partners which attended the October 26, 2000 annual
partnership meeting — again, Bank of America does not appear. Opp. Appendix Exh. 2.

3
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United States v. Bestfoods, 524 U.S. 51, 61 (1998) (it is a general principle that a parent
corporation is not liable for acts of its subsidiaries). Moreover, Plaintiffs’ suggestion that Bank
of America’s argument is inappropriate at the motion to dismiss stage is also contrary to legal
authority. See Abbell Credit Corp. v. Bank of America Corp., No. 01 C 2227, 2002 WL 335320,
at *4 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 1, 2002) (dismissing complaint as against Bank of America Corporation
based upon alleged misstatements of its subsidiary).

Second, Plaintiffs contend that they have sufficiently alleged Bank of America
Corporation’s liability for its own acts as well as those of is subsidiaries. Plaintiffs, however,
have not alleged any “acts” on the part of Bank of America Corporation. They allege only that
“Defendant Bank of America Corp. ... through its controlled subsidiaries and divisions”
provided investment and commercial banking services. Cplt. § 104. Such conclusory allegations

are insufficient to hold Bank of America Corporation liable under Bestfoods and Abbell.5

II. PLAINTIFFS’ ALLEGATIONS OF A FRAUDULENT
“SCHEME” DO NOT STATE A CLAIM UNDER SECTION
10(B) OR RULE 10B-5 AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA
A, Plaintiffs’ Misrepresentation Allegations Implicate

Rule 10b-5(b), Not “Scheme” or “Course of
Business” Liability Under Rule 10b-5(a) and (¢)

Because their misrepresentation claim only alleges aiding and abetting by Bank of
America, Plaintiffs attempt to convert it into a “manipulation” or “scheme” claim. The
gravamen of the Complaint is that Enron and its accountants allegedly issued a series of false and
misleading financial reports which artificially inflated Enron’s earnings, assets and stock price,
permitting Enron insiders to sell large blocks of shares at inflated prices throughout the alleged

class period. These allegations implicate Rule 10b-5(b)’s prohibition against making “any

5 Plaintiffs’ own reliance on Bestfoods is misplaced. Unlike that case, Plaintiffs here do
not allege any direct participation by Bank of America Corporation, nor do they make allegations
concerning Bank of America Corporation’s “personnel and management.” Bestfoods, 524 U.S.
at 64. Similarly unsuccessful is Plaintiffs’ attempt to cite 4bbell to their own advantage. Like
the plaintiffs in that case, Plaintiffs here have not alleged that corporate formalities should be
disregarded, much less any basis for such an argument. For the same reason, both U.S. v. Jon-T
Chemicals, Inc., 768 F.2d 686 (5 Cir. 1985) and Burnside v. Sanders Assocs., Inc., 507 F. Supp.
165 (N.D. Tex. 1980) aff'd, 643 F.2d 389 (5th Cir. 1981), relied on by Plamtlffs are inapposite.

4
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untrue statement of material fact or [omitting] to state a material fact necessary in order to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.”
Opp. at 54. In light of the financial plight of Enron and Andersen, Plaintiffs claim that Bank of
America (and a host of other “deep pocket” defendants) should bear responsibility for Enron’s
misstated and fraudulent accounting based on an alleged manipulative and deceptive “scheme”
under subsections (a) and (¢) of Rule 10b-5. Opp. at 53-75. Since Plaintiffs’ claims against
Bank of America focus on alleged misrepresentations in Registration Statements and analyst
reports, these claims should be analyzed under Rule 10b-5(b). Anixter v. Home-Stake
Production Co., 77 F.3d 1215, 1225 n.9 (10" Cir. 1996).

In Anixter the Tenth Circuit stated that the concept of “manipulation” had little
applicability where an auditor defendant allegedly assisted a company in issuing false financials.
Id. Nothing in the text of Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5, or in Central Bank of Denver v. First
Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164 (1994), supports the notion that primary liability can be
imposed on Bank of America for Enron’s alleged misrepresentations by simply claiming that
Bank of America participated in a “scheme” or “course of business” within the meaning of Rule
10b-5(a) and (c). This is a misrepresentation case under 10(b)-5(b), not a manipulation case.

According to the Supreme Court, “manipulation” is virtually a term of art which “refers
generally to practices, such as wash sales, matched orders, or rigged prices, that are intended to
mislead investors by artificially affecting market activity.” Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430
U.S. 462, 476 (1977); Pin v. Texaco, Inc., 793 F.2d 1448, 1451 (5th Cir. 1986) (same);
Schreiber v. Burlington Northern, Inc., 568 F. Supp. 197, 202 (D. Del. 1983), aff’d, 731 F.2d 163
(3d Cir. 1984) (“Manipulation essentially constitutes ‘artificial acts of stimulative trading
designed to mislead investors into believing there was a heavy market demand for’ the stock”)
(quoting Hundahl v. United Benefit Life Ins. Co., 465 F. Supp 1349, 1363 (N.D. Tex. 1979)); In
re Commonwealth Qil/Tesoro Petroleum Sec. Litig., 484 F. Supp. 253, 267 (W.D. Tex. 1979)
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(same).t The scheme alleged here is not a manipulation in this sense. The Complaint reflects
that Plaintiffs are trying to fit a misrepresentation claim into the rubric of a “scheme” to avoid
the pleading requirements for a misrepresentation claim. Under Santa Fe, it does not fit. In any
case, Bank of America is not alleged to have engaged in any acts which Santa Fe describes as

manipulation.

B. The Complaint Does not Allege a Violation of Rule
10b-5(b) by Bank of America Because Aiding and
Abetting Liability was Abolished by Central Bank

The Complaint fails to state a claim that Bank of America made a material
misrepresentation or omission in violation of Rule 10b-5(b) because it, at most, states an aiding
and abetting claim which is no longer viable. Only claims against primary violators are
recognized under Central Bank. In analyzing whether a primary or secondary violation is
alleged, a majority of courts apply the “bright line” test which provides that in cases involving
alleged misstatements or omissions, secondary defendants have no liability unless they actually
made the material misstatement or omission alleged in the complaint. Regardless of whether the
“bright line” test or the lesser “substantial participation” test applied by a minority of courts is
applied, however, Plaintiffs’ conclusory allegations that Bank of America purportedly “helped”
or “assisted” Enron make false or misleading statements do not establish primary liability under
subsection (b) of Rule 10b-5. See BofA Mem. at 29-34.

The Supreme Court’s opinion in Central Bank precludes the argument that mere
allegations of “help” or “assistance” in another’s alleged violation of Section 10(b) are sufficient

to plead primary liability.” Here, Plaintiffs rely on allegations that Bank of America violated

6 As this Court has explained: “Section 10(b) bars conduct “involving manipulation or
deception, manipulation being practices . . . that are intended to mislead investors by artificially
affecting market activity, and deception being misrepresentation or nondisclosure intended to
deceive.” In re Sec. Litig. BMC Software, 183 F. Supp. 2d 860, 869 n.18 (S.D. Tex. 2001)
(citing Field v. Trump, 850 F.2d 938, 946-47 (2d Cir. 1988)).

7 See In re JDN Realty Corp. Sec. Litig., 182 F. Supp. 2d 1230, 1247 (N.D. Ga. 2002) (no
primary liability against defendant attorney based on documents that rmsrepresented the value of
certain property in a real estate transaction, which permitted an issuer to create false financial
statements distributed to investors); In re Kendall Square Research Corp. Sec. Litig., 868 F.
Supp. 26, 28 n.1 (D. Mass. 1994) (defendant accountant not primarily liable based on allegations

6
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Section 10(b) by “help[ing] Enron falsify its financial statements and misrepresent its financial
condition” in false and misleading registration statements, prospectuses and interim financial
statements. Cplt. 49 773, 781. These are exactly the type of aiding and abetting allegations
courts have consistently and repeatedly been rejected since Central Bank. See Shapiro v.
Cantor, 123 F.3d 717, 720 (2d Cir. 1997) (noting that words such as “assisting,” “participating
in,” and “complicity in,” and synonyms of those phrases, fail under Central Bank). Courts in this
Circuit agree. See Zishka v. American Pad & Paper Co., No. 3:98-CV-0660-M, 2000 WL
1310529, at *5 (N.D. Tex. Sept. 13, 2000); Lemmer v. Nu-Kote Holdings, Inc., No. CIV. A.
398CV0161L, 2001 WL 1112577, at *7-9 (N.D. Tex. Sept. 6, 2001).8

Permitting Plaintiffs to transform such prohibited aiding and abetting claims into primary
violations would render Central Bank meaningless. Although secondary actors such as banks
can be liable under the securities laws if they employ a manipulative device or make a material
misstatement or omission, Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191, the allegations against Bank of
America fail to meet these requirements. Liability under Section 10(b) is viable only “assuming
all of the requirements for primary liability under Rule 10b-5 are met.” Id. In Central Bank, the
Court dismissed as impermissible aiding and abetting claims allegations that the defendant bank
possessed specific adverse information relating to certain bonds that was not disclosed to
investors. 511 U.S. at Id. Plaintiffs here allege far less against Bank of America. The
Complaint contains no facts alleging that Bank of America possessed any specific adverse,

undisclosed information concerning Enron.?

he was involved in “structuring” of transactions that were subsequently reported improperly in
company’s financial statements).

8 Notwithstanding the bulk of their 114-page Opposition, Plaintiffs fail to cite, much less
distinguish Shapiro or Zishka. They address Lemmer in a footnote and admit, as they must, that
in the end the Lemmer court rejected the “scheme” gambit that Plaintiffs propose here. Opp. at
98, n.62.

9 Plaintiffs’ assertion that Section 10(b) permits conspiracy liability (Opp. at 59 n.42) is
false. None of the cases upon which Plaintiffs rely support this contention. In light of Central
Bank, courts consistently dismiss claims based on “conspiracy” allegations on the grounds that
such claims are nothing more than relabeled aiding and abetting claims. See, e.g., Dinsmore v.
Squadron, Ellenoff, Plesent, Sheinfeld & Sorkin, 135 F.3d 837, 841 (2d Cir. 1998); In re Glenfed,

7
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C. Plaintiffs Fail to Allege, as is Required, that Bank
of America Engaged in a Manipulative or Deceptive Act

Because Plaintiffs recognize that they fail to allege with sufficient particularity that Bank
of America made a material misstatement or omission in any Registration Statement or analyst
report, they have chosen as a pleading alternative to claim that Bank of America participated in a
fraudulent scheme. Cplt. § 17, 70. As a result, the Opposition contorts the law in a failed
attempt to recast impermissible aiding and abetting and conspiracy allegations into a basis for
primary liability against Bank of America. BofA Mem. at 16, 29-31. As shown in Point II B,
since Plaintiffs’ allegations against Bank of America are based upon alleged misrepresentations
and omissions, they should be evaluated under Rule 10b-5(b).

Even if this Court evaluates the Section 10(b) claim against Bank of America under Rule
10b-5(a) and (c), however, Plaintiffs’ claims fail. In order to be liable under Section 10(b),
Plaintiffs must allege a manipulative or deceptive act by each defendant in furtherance of a
purported scheme to defraud, not mere participation in or engaging in an act in furtherance of a
scheme. Plaintiffs admit this is the law. See Cooper v. Pickett, 137 F.3d 616, 624 (9" Cir. 1997)
(Rule 10b-5(a) liability requires that “each defendant committed a manipulative or deceptive act
in furtherance of the scheme™); Opp at 33 (citing and adopting Cooper on this issue); Lemmer,
2001 WL 1112577, at *8 (citing Cooper and finding insufficient plaintiff’s allegations of a
scheme to defraud, which attributed specific acts to only two defendants and which were “vague,
general, and unsupported by specific details that might support a strong inference of such a
scheme”); Pegasus Holdings v. Veterinary Ctrs. of America, Inc., 38 F. Supp. 2d 1158, 1165
(C.D. Cal. 1998) (dismissing allegations of a fraudulent scheme where plaintiffs failed to allege
“specific acts in furtherance of the scheme by all defendants™); Broad v. Rockwell Int’l Corp.,
642 F.2d 929, 963 (5™ Cir. 1981) (concerted, intentional conduct by defendants which resulted

Inc. Sec. Litig., 60 F.3d 591 (9" Cir. 1995). Plaintiffs’ citations to criminal consplracy and mail
fraud cases are therefore inapposite. See United States v Elam, 678 F. 2d 1234 (5™ Cir. 1982)
(conspiracy); United States v. Read, 658 F. 2d 1225 (7t Cir. 1981) (conspiracy); United States V.
Alvarez, 625 F. 2d 1196 (5™ Cir. 1980) (conspiracy); United States v. Craig, 573 F. 2d 455 (7®
Cir. 1977) (mail fraud).
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only in plaintiffs’ obtaining their rights under a contract did not constitute manipulation or
deception).10

The term “deceptive” is narrowly construed to include only certain types of conduct, such
as the making of false or misleading misstatements or omissions of material fact, insider trading
and misappropriation of information or securities. See, e.g., BMC Software, 183 F. Supp. 2d at
869 n.18 (misstatements and omissions, insider trading); In re Landry’s Seafood Restaurants,
Inc. Sec. Litig., No. H-99-1948, slip op. at 9 n.12 (S.D. Tex. Feb. 20, 2001) (same); SEC v.
Zandford, 122 S. Ct. 1899 (2002) (broker misappropriated client’s funds). Plaintiffs do not
allege a deceptive act by Bank of America.

Plaintiffs’ generalized allegations of a “scheme to defraud” that attempt to echo the
language of Rule 10b-5 do not adequately allege that Bank of America engaged in manipulative
or deceptive acts in furtherance of a scheme. Allegations of normal business activities in
furtherance of a scheme are not sufficient.

The Complaint contains only conclusory allegations concerning normal business
activities by Bank of America such as lending and underwriting, but most of the cases cited by
Plaintiffs in support of their “scheme” claim involve allegations of manipulative or deceptive
acts in furtherance of a scheme to defraud. In Finkel v. Docutel/Olivetti Corp., 817 F.2d 356,
363 (5™ Cir. 1987), for example, the court based liability on allegations that the defendant forced
a company of which it owned 46% to accept its worthless inventories. The deceptive or

manipulative acts alleged in other cases cited by Plaintiffs include wash sales, misappropriation

10 The Supreme Court has held that a “private plaintiff may not bring a 10b-5 suit against
a defendant for acts not prohibited by the text of §10(b).” Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 173; see
Zandford, 122 S.Ct. 1899, 1901 (June 3, 2002) (“[t]he scope of Rule 10b-5 is coextensive with
the coverage of §10(b) . . . .”); Santa Fe Indus., 430 U.S. at 472 (“the language of [§10(b)] must
control the interpretation of [Rule 10b-5]); Anixter, 77 F.3d at 1224 (“To the extent Rule 10b-5
could be read more broadly than §10(b), the text of the statute controls™); see also Chiarella v.
United States, 445 U.S. 222, 234-35 (1980) (“the 1934 Act cannot be read more broadly than its
language and the statutory scheme reasonably permit. ... ); Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425
U.S. 185, 200 (1976) (the language of Section 10(b) is controlling).

9
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of client funds and insider sales.!! The remainder of Plaintiffs’ cases were decided prior to
Central Bank and reach conclusions that contradict the Supreme Court’s ruling. See, e.g., Shores
v. Sklar, 647 F.2d 462, 465, 471 (5" Cir. 1981) (defendants may be held liable under Section
10(b) even if they did not themselves make a material misrepresentation or omission). As one
court has noted, “[t]he line between primary and secondary liability was muddled before the
Supreme Court spoke [in Central Bank of Denver].” In re Lake States Commodities, Inc., 936 F.
Supp. 1461, 1472 n.15 (N.D. I11. 1996).

Plaintiffs’ reliance on McNamara v. Bre-X Minerals Ltd., No. 5:97-CV-159, 2001 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 4571, at *166 (E.D. Tex. Mar. 30, 2001), is misplaced. Contrary to Plaintiffs’
portrayal of McNamara, the complaint in that case did not allege participation in a fraudulent

scheme. Opp. at 38, 73. As a result, the court did not address scheme liability.!12

11 See U.S. v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 647-48 (1997) (insider trading by attorney based
on possession of confidential information obtained during representation); Superintendent of Ins.
of New York v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 7-9 (1971) (scheme based upon sale of all
of company’s stock to conspirators who paid for stock out of company’s own assets, and
arranged the issuance of checks and sale of treasury bonds to conceal the purchase); SEC v. U.S.
Envtl, Inc., 155 F.3d 107 (2d Cir. 1998) (broker knowingly engaged in manipulative acts such as
wash sales and agreeing to execute buy and sell orders as directed by a stock promoter in
exchange for a profit on the transactions); SEC v. First Jersey Secs., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1471-
72 (2d Cir. 1996) (primary liability based on evidence of individual defendant’s “purposeful
planning” and orchestration of scheme to underwrite offerings, buy back underwritten shares and
then sell these shares through other branch offices to new customers at inflated prices); In re
Livent, Inc. Noteholders Sec. Litig., 174 F. Supp. 2d 144 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (alleging specific,
secret side agreement between the company and a bank that contradicted the terms of publicly
disclosed agreement between them and which the underwriter agreed not to disclose to Livent’s
new management); In re Health Mgmt. Inc. Sec. Litig., 970 F. Supp. 192 (E.D.N.Y. 1997)
(complaint alleged the specific actions and communications that comprised part of the plan and
alleged that one individual defendant attended a specific meeting at which the scheme was
devised and consented to the fraudulent plan, and another individual defendant directed
completion of fraudulent inventory transfer form despite knowledge that inventory had not been
transferred); Hill v. Hanover Energy, Inc., No. 91-1964 (JHG), 1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18566, at
*12 (D.D.C. Dec. 16, 1991) (primary liability based on participation of defendants in complex
scheme involving fraudulently inducing plaintiff to post letter of credit and give up rights to
acquire stock in exchange for one-half of the proceeds); Scholnick v. Schecter, 752 F. Supp,
1317, 1318 (E.D. Mich. 1990) (bank arranged scheme, agreed to fraudulent conduct and took
funds from company’s bank account to satisfy outstanding debt).

12 The McNamara court refused to dismiss claims against a financial advisor that
allegedly received a copy of specific reports containing red flags and whose analyst allegedly
discussed those red flags with the company. No such specific allegations are made against Bank
of America here. Moreover, the court dismissed claims against a different financial advisor
whose analyst was given access to specific negative test results. The court determined the
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D. Plaintiffs Fail to Allege Facts Supporting
a Claim Against Bank of America for
Liability Under Rule 10b-5(a) or (¢)

The Complaint alleges that Enron engaged in a scheme to maintain its investment grade
rating and its high stock price. See, e.g., Cplt. § 18-20, 48, 155(m), 313. The purpose of
Enron’s scheme was to allow it to continue to borrow and raise money to sustain its business
operations and avoid stock issuance “triggers” that would force Enron into a “death spiral.”

Opp. at 11; Cpilt. g 35, 46, 313, 619. The Complaint’s repeated assertions that Bank of America
participated in this alleged scheme are impermissibly conclusory, speculative, and based upon
innuendo instead of particularized facts. See, e.g., Cplt. §Y 393, 773-74, 25; BofA Mem. at 29-
31. The extent of Bank of America’s participation is that it provided commercial and investment
banking services to Enron and issued positive analyst reports, and that its executives allegedly
invested in the LJM2 partnership. Cplt. Y 29, 651, 773, 780-81, 785. Numerous courts,

including this Court, have refused to hold investment banks liable for similar activities. See In re

Landry’s, slip op. at 66 (dismissing scheme allegations against underwriter defendants).!3

allegations were insufficient because plaintiffs failed to specify what he was told about the tests,
who gave him the information or when the alleged communication occurred. Id. at 69. All of
those allegations far exceed those in the Complaint in this case, which refers only to unidentified
information about Enron made available to Bank of America based solely on its relationship with
Enron. Another category of cases cited by Plaintiffs is equally inapposite — pre-Reform Act
cases that base alleged scheme liability on a defendant’s participation or assistance in drafting,
preparing, editing, modifying and/or approving false or misleading statements. See Flecker v.
Hollywood Entertainment Corp., Civil No. 95-1926-MA, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5329, at *25
(D. Or. Feb. 12, 1997); Murphy v. Hollywood Entertainment Corp., Civil No. 95-1926-MA, 1997
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22207, at *22 (D. Or. May 9, 1996); In re Union Carbide Corp. Consumer
Prods. Bus. Sec. Litig., 676 F. Supp. 458 (S.D.N.Y. 1987); In re ZZZZ Best Sec. Litig., 864 F.
Supp. 960, 972 (C.D. Cal. 1994); Adam v. Silicon Valley Bancshares, 884 F. Supp. 1398 (N.D.
Cal. 1995); In re Software Toolworks Inc., 50 F.3d 615, 627-29 & n.3 (9th Cir. 1994).

13 See also Kendall Square, 868 F. Supp. at 28 n.1 (allegations of involvement in
structuring the transactions at issue did not give rise to Section 10(b) liability); Strassman v.
Fresh Choice, Inc., No. C-95-20017 RPA, 1995 WL 743728, at *17 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 7, 1995)
(dismissing claims against underwriters based on “scheme to defraud” and “conspiracy”
allegations); In re Valence Tech. Sec. Litig., No. C 95-20459 JW., 1996 WL 37788, at *10-11
(N.D. Cal. Jan. 23, 1996) (rejecting claim that underwriter participated in scheme to defraud
based upon allegations of roadshow statements, role as lead underwriter, issuance of favorable
reports, maintenance of market price and agreement to do follow on offerings); Scone Invs.,
L.P. v. American Third Market Corp., No. 97 CIV. 3802 (SAS), 1998 WL 205338, at *7-8
(S.D.N.Y. Apr. 28, 1998) (allegations that bank financed defendants’ purchase of securities at
issue, pressured defendants to liquidate securities and released shares of securities from
defendants’ inventory failed to establish liability for participation in scheme to defraud).
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In fact, the scheme allegations against Bank of America here are remarkably similar to
those asserted against the underwriters in /n re Landry s, albeit on a grander scale. There, the
Plaintiffs “conclusorily alleged” that the underwriters made an illegal indemnification agreement
with Landry’s to protect them from liability for their participation in the alleged scheme, issued
false and misleading analyst reports, and prepared a false roadshow script to artificially inflate
the price of Landry’s stock. Due to the illegal indemnification agreement, those activities
allegedly provided the underwriters with greatly increased, risk-free fees. In re Landry’s, slip
op. at 65.

The deficiencies in the pleading against the underwriters in In re Landry’s mirror the
deficiencies in the Complaint as to Bank of America. In dismissing the complaint, this Court

explained:

Plaintiffs have generally alleged without any particularity that the
Underwriters also conducted a comprehensive due diligence
investigation . . . . They purportedly had access to confidential
corporate information and communicated frequently with Fertitta
and West about the business, but Plaintiffs fail to provide any
details or identify specifically what kind of information, when it
was conveyed, by whom and to whom. Plaintiffs have failed to
identify any specific information communicated by document or
conversations to the Underwriter Defendants or uncovered them
in their due diligence investigation. Instead they have made
general statements that might give rise to speculation, but not
particularized facts giving rise to a strong inference that the
Underwriters acted with severe recklessness or knowingly to
support allegations of fraud under the Exchange Act.

Id. at 66 (emphasis added).

Instead of pointing to facts, Plaintiffs merely speculate that Enron’s scheme “could not
have happened” without the “active participation of lawyers, bankers and accountants.” Opp. at
32. Under both Rule 9(b) and the Reform Act, however, fraud claims may not be premised on

speculation or hindsight.!4 In addition, this Court has held that in order to allege a scheme to

14 See In re Comshare, Inc. Sec. Litig., 183 F.3d 542, 553 (6th Cir. 1999) (“[c]laims of
securities fraud cannot rest on speculation and conclusory allegations™); U.S. ex. rel. Thompson
v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp., 125 F.3d 899, 903 (5th Cir. 1997) (same); San Leandro
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defraud “Plaintiffs must allege what actions each Defendant took in furtherance of the alleged
scheme and specifically plead what he learned, when he learmed it and how Plaintiffs know what
he learned.” BMC Sofiware, 183 F. Supp. 2d at 886 (emphasis added); see Lemmer, 2001 WL
1112577, at *8 (dismissing “scheme to defraud” allegations absent allegations of acts
specifically attributed to each defendant);!5 see also Scone Invs., 1998 WL 205338, at *7
(allegations of defendant’s participation in scheme “lump[ed] together the conduct of all the
defendants” impermissible). The Complaint fails to meet these requirements.

As shown above, Plaintiffs are required to allege facts showing that Bank of America
committed specific manipulative or deceptive acts in furtherance of a fraudulent scheme.
Although Plaintiffs claim that LIM2 “was used to falsify Enron’s financial results” (Opp. at 11),
they do not allege any facts showing that Bank of America was aware of its allegedly fraudulent
purpose or that it engaged in any manipulative or deceptive acts in furtherance of an alleged
fraudulent scheme involving LIM2 . The mere allegations that Bank of America executives
purportedly invested in LIM2 and that the investment was profitable do not warrant Plaintiffs’
conclusion that Bank of America participated in a scheme “to loot Enron for the benefit of []
Enron insiders and its banks like Bank America.” Opp. at 13. The Complaint alleges no facts
demonstrating that Bank of America was aware of or knowingly participated in a scheme to “loot

Enron” through the use of “illicit partnerships.”16

Emergency Medical v. Philip Morris Co., Inc., 75 F.3d 801, 813 (2d Cir. 1996) (same); Tuchman
v. DSC Communications Corp., 14 F.3d 1061, 1068 (5th Cir. 1994) (same); In re Waste Mgmit.,
Inc. Sec. Litig., No. H-99-2183, slip op. at 18 n.6 (S.D. Tex. Aug. 16, 2001) (“conclusory
allegations or legal conclusions masquerading as factual conclusions do not defeat a motion to
dismiss”) (internal citations omitted); In re Landry’s, slip op. at 4 n.8 (same). Plaintiffs ignore
this well-settled principle.

15 Plaintiffs’ attempt to compare this case with Cooper, 137 F.3d 616, a pre-Reform Act
case, is unfounded. In Cooper, plaintiffs specifically alleged that the underwriters drafted,
reviewed and/or approved misleading statements. Id. at 628. No such allegations of direct
participation are made against Bank of America. Moreover, Cooper recognizes that scheme to
defraud cases require allegations that “each defendant committed a manipulative or deceptive
act in furtherance of the scheme.” Id. at 624 (emphasis added).

16 Plaintiffs claim, for example, that “/t/he LIM2 partnership, using the money Bank
America or its executives secretly provided, was able to create several SPEs — including the
Raptors — with which Enron engaged in manipulative or deceptive contrivances and transactions
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Similarly, with respect to Bank of America’s alleged participation in the “scheme”
through its role as one of Enron’s principal commercial lending banks (Cplt.§ 779), the
Complaint simply lists the dates and amounts of several loan transactions.!? It contains no facts
showing Bank of America’s degree of involvement in the loans and credit facilities, no facts
showing how the alleged loans and credit facilities contributed to or in any way furthered
Enron’s alleged fraudulent scheme, no facts showing the extent to which Enron took advantage
of the alleged credit facilities, no facts indicating that Bank of America had knowledge of the
allegedly fraudulent scheme, and rno facts showing any fraudulent intent by Bank of America in
extending these loans and credit facilities. Nor do Plaintiffs offer any explanation for why Bank
of America would loan millions of dollars of its own capital to an enterprise which it allegedly

knew was nothing more than a “Ponzi scheme.”

III.  PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO REBUT BANK OF AMERICA’S SHOWING
THAT THEIR CLAIMS FAIL FOR LACK OF PARTICULARITY

A, The Fifth Circuit Recently Articulated The

“Dimensions” of the Factual Basis Necessary to
Support Allegations of Fraud Under the Reform Act

Five days after Bank of America filed its motion to dismiss in this action, the Fifth
Circuit both reaffirmed “[its] strict interpretation of Rule 9(b)” and discussed the factual basis
required to support allegations of misrepresentations or omissions under the Reform Act. 4BC
Arbitrage, 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 9112. The Court addressed as a matter of first impression the

“dimensions” of the Reform Act’s requirement that for allegations based on information and

to inflate its reported profits, while improperly moving billions in debt off Enron’s balance sheet
and into the SPEs during 00.” Opp. at 48 (citing Cplt. § 785) (underlined emphasis added). No
fraudulent act by Bank of America is alleged.

17 The amount of the loan transactions in which Bank of America allegedly participated
mysteriously rose by $1 billion during the two month period between Plaintiffs’ filing of the
Complaint on April 8 and their Opposition on June 10. Compare Cplt. § 774 (alleging
participation in transactions of $4 billion) with Opp. at 37, 53, 102, 112 (asserting $5 billion in
loan transactions).
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belief a plaintiff must state with particularity all facts on which that belief is formed. 15 U.S.C.
§78u-4(b)(1).18

The complaint in ABC Arbitrage was based “upon the investigation of [plaintiffs’]
counsel.” 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 9112 at *51-52. In addition, certain allegations cited specific
documentary evidence and personal sources, some of which were identified by name and others
described generally. The plaintiffs argued that the heightened pleading requirements of the
Reform Act did not apply because the challenged allegations were not made on information and
belief but, rather, “simply” stated facts. The Court rejected that argument, explaining that if the
allegations in the complaint were not based upon plaintiffs’ personal knowledge, they were pled
on information and belief although not labeled as such. Id. at *34. The Court further explained
that “allegations made on ‘investigation of counsel’ are equivalent to those made on ‘information
and belief” for purposes of the heightened pleading requirements under 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(b)(1).”
Id. at *35. In so concluding, the Fifth Circuit echoed this Court’s opinions in /z re Landry’s and
In re Waste Management.\®

The Court held that a complaint can meet the Reform Act’s information and belief

pleading requirement “by providing documentary evidence and/or a sufficient general

18 The Reform Act provides, in relevant part:

In any private action arising under this chapter in which the plaintiff alleges that
the defendant —

(A) made an untrue statement of a material fact; or

(B) omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
made, in the light of the circumstances in which they were made, not
misleading;
the complaint shall specify each statement alleged to have been misleading, the
reason or reasons why the statement is misleading, and, if an allegation regarding
the statement or omission is made on information and belief, the complaint shall
state with particularity all facts on which that belief is formed.

15 U.S.C. §78u-4(b)(1) (emphasis added).

19 See In re Landry’s, slip op. at 56 (“Because, as noted, this Court views the purpose of
the Reform Act to tighten requirements for pleading a viable securities fraud action to protect
companies from unfounded suits, it agrees . . . that the particularized pleading requirement
applies to allegations based on investigation of counsel™); In re Waste Mgmt., slip op. at 94.
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description of the personal sources of the plaintiffs’ beliefs.” Id. at *37, 38. In other words, a
plaintiff need not identify its confidential sources by name “provided they are described in the
complaint with sufficient particularity to support the probability that a person in the position
occupied by the source would possess the information alleged.” Id. at *37.

Applying that standard to the facts before it, the Court determined that allegations
unsupported by either documentary evidence or personal sources “did not provide an adequate
basis for believing that [the company’s] statements and omissions were false and misleading
based on [these] allegation[s].” Id. at *56. Plaintiffs’ reliance on their “general allegation of
consultations and interviews” with business journalists, employees, customers, trade union
officials and telecom analysts “in the course of the investigation of counsel as the source of these
allegations™ was inadequate because “these personal sources are not identified with sufficient
particularity to support the probability that a person in the position occupied by the source as
described would possess the information pleaded. . . .” Id. at *57-58. On the other hand, the
complaint’s citation to specific internal company reports and newsletters provided an adequate
documentary basis for alleging that the defendant company’s corresponding statements and
omissions were false and misleading and “obviate[d] the need for identifying personal sources as
the basis for the allegations” because they quoted or were prepared by individuals who “by virtue
of [their] positions[s], would possess the information pleaded . . ..” Id. at *54. Also sufficient
was a specific conversation on a specific date between the company’s chairman and the former
head of one of its divisions.

It is a stark violation of the Reform Act that the 500 page Complaint in this case is devoid
of any statement asserting the basis for Plaintiffs’ allegations, whether personal knowledge,

investigation of counsel, or information and belief.20 Although Plaintiffs’ omission is a

20 It is unclear whether Plaintiffs’ omission of such an allegation, which often appears in
the first paragraph of a complaint, was the result of oversight, Plaintiffs’ distraction with
copyrighting their work product and writing their “Preamble,” or an intentional but futile effort
to avoid stating the basis for their Complaint in the hope of avoiding the requirements of
15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1). It is also unclear whether Plaintiffs intentionally avoided any mention
of ABC Arbitrage even though it was decided almost one month before their Opposition was
filed. Plaintiffs apparently thought that ignoring the existence of ABC Arbitrage would allow
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sufficient basis by itself for dismissing the Complaint,?! it is apparent that the Complaint, other
than allegations regarding Plaintiffs’ investments, is based on information and belief and/or the
investigation of counsel, not Plaintiffs’ personal knowledge. Since allegations based on
investigation of counsel are equivalent to those pled on information and belief (see ABC
Arbitrage, 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 9112, at *35), all of the allegations of alleged fraud on the
part of Bank of America are subject to the pleading requirement of the Reform Act that the basis
of allegations be identified as set forth by the Fifth Circuit in ABC Arbitrage and this Court in In
re Landry’s and In re Waste Management. Plaintiffs have failed to satisfy that standard with
respect to all of their fraud allegations relating to Bank of America which should therefore be

dismissed.

B. Plaintiffs’ Allegations That Bank of America Made Misstatements
or Omissions Regarding Its Purported Investment In LJM2 Fail
To Comply With Rule 9(b), the Reform Act and ABC Arbitrage

Plaintiffs apparently make the linchpin of their theory that Bank of America participated
in a fraudulent scheme the assertion that Bank of America and/or its executives were secretly
permitted to invest $45 million in LIM2 as a reward for that participation. As a result of that
purported investment, Plaintiffs also allege that all of Bank of America’s research reports issued
after June 2000 were false or misleading because its “boilerplate” disclosure in those reports did
not disclose its investment. Cpit. §29; Opp. at 49 n.36, 92. Under Plaintiffs’ theory, without

that investment, Bank of America’s alleged involvement in the scheme crumbles.?2

them to cite to and rely on numerous Rule 9(b) decisions which have no relevance after the Fifth
Circuit’s opinion. See cases cited in Opposition at 2, 51-53.

21 Since the Reform Act requires that allegations of fraud made on information and belief
shall state with particularity all facts on which the belief is formed, it also implicitly requires
plaintiffs to affirmatively plead whether allegations are made on information and belief or
otherwise.

22 See, e.g., Cplt. § 24 (“One of the primary manipulative devices used to falsify Enron’s
financial results during the Class Period was LIM2, which was formed in 10/99 and secretly
controlled by Enron and used to help create numerous SPEs (including the “Raptors”) which
defendants used to engage in transactions to artificially inflate Enron’s profits while concealing
billions of dollars in debt that should have been included on Enron’s balance sheet™); 785
(“Bank America also actively participated in the Enron fraudulent scheme by helping it structure
and finance the critical LJIM2 SPE....Bank America’s top executives were permitted to invest
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Although Plaintiffs repeatedly refer to the alleged $45 million investment in LJM2 and
assert that Bank of America was LIM2’s largest investor, the 500 page Complaint is silent as to
the basis for Plaintiffs’ assertions; Plaintiffs fail to cite to any document or personal source for
this conclusory allegation. Nor do they identify the officials who purportedly invested in LIM2,
the dates of the alleged investments, the terms and conditions of the investments, or the returns
(if any) realized on the investments. Plaintiffs also offer no facts showing that Bank of America
“helped” Enron structure, or was in any manner involved with, the formation of LIM2. Bank of
America is not mentioned in any of the paragraphs in the Complaint discussing the structuring
and creation of LIM2 entities or SPEs. See Cplt. Y 23-26, 448-49, 460-62, 646-47.

As discussed in detail above, the Fifth Circuit in ABC Arbitrage held that allegations of
misstatements or omissions made on information and belief or the investigation of counsel must
be supported “by providing documentary evidence and/or a sufficient general description of the
personal sources of plaintiffs’ beliefs.” 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 9112, at *38. Like the
allegations in ABC Arbitrage that were unsupported by citation to such evidence or sources,
Plaintiffs’ allegations regarding Bank of America’s investment in LJM2 do “not provide an
adequate basis for believing that [Bank of America’s] statements and omissions were false and
misleading based on [those] allegation[s].” Id. at *56.

In response to Bank of America’s argument that Plaintiffs do not have a basis for their

allegation, the Opposition states:

They are wrong — we do. If this allegation is false and was made
without an adequate basis, Rule 11 sanctions at the end of the case
is the appropriate remedy. Disbelief of the allegation is not
permitted at this stage.

some $45 million in equity money to facilitate the financing of this critical vehicle so LIM2
would have the cash to fund four SPEs to do deals with Enron at year-end 99 to create huge
profits for Enron so it could meet its 99 profit forecasts. LIM2 was an investment that
was...virtually guaranteed to generate huge returns for investors and was really a reward to Bank
America for its participation in the scheme™). Plaintiffs impermissibly seek to embellish their
allegations by contending in the Opposition that Bank of America was “the largest single
beneficiary of the bogus LIM2 deals with Enron” (Opp. at 13, 44), an assertion that does not
appear in the Complaint. The alleged investment was so “secret” that Bank of America still has
no knowledge of it.
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Opp. at 48 n.34. Unfortunately for Plaintiffs, it is they who are wrong. Plaintiffs cannot smugly
inform the Court they have a basis and not reveal it. The Reform Act and ABC Arbitrage require
Plaintiffs to tell both Bank of America and this Court the factual basis for their claims or those
claims must be dismissed. While Rule 11 sanctions will be an appropriate remedy at the end of
the case, dismissal is the appropriate remedy at this stage. Plaintiffs made their allegations
without an adequate basis and have not complied with the requirement of Section 78u-4(b)(1) of
the Reform Act that “if an allegation regarding the statement or omission is made on information
and belief, the complaint shall state with particularity all facts on which that belief is formed”.
(Emphasis added). As the Reform Act makes clear, “[i]f the facts are not pled with the requisite
particularity, the action is to be dismissed.” See In re Landry’s, slip op. at 6 n.10 (emphasis
added); 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(3)(A); see also Tuchman, 14 F.3d at 1067 (“[T]his heightened
pleading . . . prevents plaintiffs from filing baseless claims and then attempting to discover
unknown wrongs”).

Moreover, contrary to Plaintiffs’ suggestion, Rule 11 sanctions are not a substitute for
adequate pleading. In enacting the Reform Act Congress determined that “the protection of
Rule 11 against frivolous lawsuits was not enough.” See In re Theragenics Corp. Sec. Litig., 105
F. Supp. 2d 1342, 1350-51 (N.D. Ga. 2000), and cases cited therein. See also In re Landry’s,
slip op. at 55-56; In re Green Tree Fin. Corp. Stock Litig., 61 F. Supp. 2d 860, 872 (N.D. Minn.
1999) (“[Blecause an attorney is required, under Rule 11 . . . to investigate claims before filing a
complaint, plaintiffs should not be allowed to avoid the heightened pleading standard by
claiming ‘investigation of counsel’”). Since Plaintiffs have failed to plead an adequate basis for
their assertions regarding Bank of America’s alleged involvement with LIM2, their Section

10(b) claim should be dismissed.

C. Plaintiffs’ Allegations of Misstatements
in Analyst Reports Are Insufficient

Plaintiffs allege that “throughout the Class Period, Bank of America issued analysts’

reports on Enron which contained false and misleading statements concerning Enron’s business,
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finances and financial condition and its prospects ... as pleaded herein.” Cplt. § 782.
Although Plaintiffs spend almost twenty pages of their Opposition reciting the portions of Bank
of America analyst reports already quoted in the Complaint, they still do not specify which
portions of those reports are allegedly false and misleading. See Opp. at 76-91. Nor do Plaintiffs
specify the reasons why any particular statement is false and misleading, much less why it was
false when made. Instead, they simply repeat the laundry lists of alleged “true but concealed
facts” that the Complaint applies to all of the research reports of all the bank defendants, without
attributing any specific reason why a statement is false and misleading to any particular
statement of any particular bank defendant, much less Bank of America. Nor do the laundry lists
contain any dates when the purportedly adverse “facts” should have been known. See Cpit.
99 214, 300, 359, 390; Opp. at 78-81, 84-89, 90, 91. Plaintiffs’ allegations were insufficient as
alleged in the Complaint and Plaintiffs have not remedied those insufficiencies through their
repetition in the Opposition, nor can they.?

In addition, Plaintiffs’ stated “reasons” for why the research reports were false and
misleading — their lists of “true but concealed facts” — are conclusory assertions with none of the

specificity required by Rule 9(b), the Reform Act, ABC Arbitrage and recent decisions of this

23 Nor do Plaintiffs explain why Bank of America’s simple reporting of statements made
by Enron was misleading, see, e.g., 9/30/99 Report (“Other important comments included
management’s conviction in Enron Energy Services’ ability to turn profitable in 4Q99 and
increase its contribution going forward”) (Cplt. 9 173); 10/12/99 Report (“ENE reported solid
3Q99 EPS results of $0.27. . . . greater year over year earnings were primarily a result of
continued strong performance from its wholesale businesses. . . .””) (Cplt. § 182); 4/17/00 Report
(“. .. ENE reported a 18% increase in earnings per share. . . . The number beat our EPS
estimate. . . .”) (Cplt. § 233); 9/19/00 Report (“The key message in [the Vice Chairman’s]
presentation is that Enron is at the cusp of reaping rewards from businesses that they have
created and built up over the past few years. . . .) (Cplt. ] 258); how an expression of opinion by
Bank of America can be false, see, e.g., 10/15/99 Report (“We believe the momentum and
quality of contracts fully validate Enron’s strategy and dominant presence in this field.”) (Cplt.
9 185); 12/16/99 Report (“We believe there could be significant potential upside in Enron’s
stock. . ..”) (Cplt. § 193); 1/12/00 Report (“We believe Enron Communication (ECI), represents
significant unrecognized value in the stock. . . .”) (Cplt. § 195); or why certain forward-looking
statements in the research reports were false or misleading. See, e.g., 11/18/00 Report (“We
continue to expect EES will contribute meaningfully to EPS in 2000.”) (Cplt. § 200); 4/17/00
Report (“We expect to see big things from ENE in this business. . . .”) (Cplt.  233); 7/24/00
Report (“The service is expected to roll out in several cities by the end of this year with an
expansion into other U.S. Cities and abroad by FY01”) (Cplt. §252).
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Court. For example, Bank of America’s 8/14/01 Report stated “ENE announced today that Jeff
Skilling, President and CEO, has resigned for personal reasons.” Cplt. 9 346. Plaintiffs contend,
with absolutely no factual support, that Bank of America’s reports concerning Skilling’s
resignation were false and misleading because Skilling “did not resign for ‘personal reasons,’ but
rather, because he knew that the scheme to defraud he had been actively participating in was
falling apart and about to be exposed. . . .” Opp. at 90; Cplt. § 359. Plaintiffs do not cite to
either documentary evidence or personal sources for their assertion that Bank of America’s
statements were false at the time they were made, as required by ABC Arbitrage. See In re
Landry'’s, slip op. at 65-67 (dismissing conclusory allegations that underwriters, inter alia, issued
false and misleading analyst reports because “Plaintiffs have failed to identify any specific
information communicated by document or conversations to the Underwriter Defendants or
uncovered by them in their due diligence investigation).

In short, a review of the Complaint reveals that Plaintiffs do not point to a single
documentary or personal source to support their wholly conclusory allegation that Bank of
America made false and misleading statements in its research reports, or their explanation for
why those statements were misleading when made. See Cplt. Y 173, 182, 185, 193, 195, 200,
203,214, 233, 252, 255, 258, 265, 300, 346, 357, 359, 371, 390. Indeed, Plaintiffs’ case against
Bank of America is a textbook example of fraud by hindsight, although even with the benefit of
hindsight Plaintiffs are unable to state a claim.

In addition, as set forth in the moving brief, a securities analyst is not liable to the entire
marketplace for allegedly misleading reports issued to firm clients. BofA Mem. at 34-35 (citing
In re Oak Tech. Sec. Litig., No. 90-345, 1997 WL 448168, at *13 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 1, 1997); In re
Valence, No. C 95-20459 JW., 1996 WL 37788 at *9 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 23, 1996). Plaintiffs have
no real response. They urge — without citing any authority — that “the wealth of case law cited by
plaintiff hold investment banks liable for the statements of their analysts.” Opp. at 76. Far from

providing any “wealth of case law,” Plaintiffs do not cite a single case addressing Bank of
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America’s supposed duty to non-customers. Id. at 75-93.24

Plaintiffs’ fallback argument that Bank of America’s lack of a “generalized duty to the
market” doesn’t matter because of Bank of America’s supposed “participation in a scheme to
defraud” (Opp. at 76 n.56) is a clumsy attempt to dodge the relevant issue. At bottom, Plaintiffs
have not alleged facts which, if true, would establish a duty to non-customers and have not cited
any authority which would permit the Court to presume such a duty in this case. Thus, Bank of

America may not be held liable to the non-client Plaintiffs for statements in its analyst reports.

D. Plaintiffs’ Allegations of Misstatements By Bank of
America in Registration Statements Are Insufficient

As demonstrated in Bank of America’s moving brief, the Complaint is insufficient
because it does not specify a single misstatement by Bank of America in any of the allegedly
misleading Registration Statements. Nor does it identify the persons responsible for the alleged
misstatements or provide factual support for why each alleged misstatement was misleading.

In response to Bank of America’s motion, Plaintiffs argue merely that the Registration
Statements were false and misleading because they incorporated Enron’s false financial
statements. Opp. at 92. Moreover, as in their Complaint, Plaintiffs assert that the “underwriter
banks” generally are responsible, rather than Bank of America specifically. Id. at 93. Neither
the Complaint nor the Opposition makes any attempt to link Bank of America with the allegedly
false statements, describe its role in the challenged offerings, specify its knowledge of alleged
misstatements and how and when it acquired that knowledge, or provide the factual basis for
Plaintiffs’ allegations. Plaintiffs’ failure to plead particularized allegations backed by factual
support mandates dismissal of Plaintiffs’ Section 10(b) claim based on alleged misstatements in

Registration Statements. See ABC Arbitrage, 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 9112, at *37, 38; see also

24 Plaintiffs do not even cite, much less distinguish, Oak and Valence. Instead, they make
a factual assertion that is never set forth in their 500-page Complaint — that “Bank of America is
well aware that its analyst reports are disseminated to a broad spectrum of institutional investors
via services that institutional investors subscribe to. These institutional investors set the price for
securities, such as Enron securities, upon which plaintiffs rely pursuant to the fraud-on-the-
market theory.” Opp. at 75. Even if this allegation had appeared in the Complaint, it would not
create a duty to non-customers.
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Williams v. WMX Techs., Inc., 112 F.3d 175, 179 (5™ Cir. 1997) (dismissing on 9(b) grounds due
to plaintiffs’ “lack of specificity as to which portion [of the challenged prospectus] is false and
why”); Zishka, 2000 WL 1310529, at *16 (dismissing Section 10(b) claim against underwriters
where plaintiff failed to provide facts showing they participated in the making of false statements
in registration statement); Eickhorst v. American Completion & Dev. Corp., 706 F. Supp. 1087,
1092 (S.D.N.Y. 1989) (dismissing claim on Rule 9(b) grounds where plaintiff made no
allegation that defendant broker had any involvement in preparation or drafting of challenged

offering materials).

IV.  PLAINTIFFS’ SECTION 10(B) CLAIM ALSO FAILS
BECAUSE THE COMPLAINT DOES NOT PLEAD FACTS
GIVING RISE TO A STRONG INFERENCE OF SCIENTER

Regardless of how they label their Section 10(b) claims against Bank of America,
Plaintiffs must “state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that [Bank of
America] acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. §78u-5(c)(1)(B); see also Nathenson
v. Zonagen, Inc., 267 F.3d 400, 407 (5th Cir. 2001). At a minimum, Plaintiffs must plead facts
which show a strong inference of severe recklessness with respect to historical facts claimed to
be false or misleading. BofA Mem. at 20. As for forward-looking statements, Plaintiffs must
plead particularized facts demonstrating that the alleged misstatement was made with actual
knowledge of falsity. /d. Moreover, the Fifth Circuit has recently confirmed that allegations of
motive and opportunity alone are not sufficient to plead the requisite “strong inference” of
scienter. Abrams, 2002 WL 1018944, at *4; see also Nathenson, 267 F.3d at 412; Kurtzman v.
Compagq Computer Corp., Civil Action No. H-99-779, slip op. at 43 (S.D. Tex. Apr. 1, 2002).

In its moving brief, Bank of America demonstrated that the allegations in the Complaint
did not come close to pleading a strong inference of scienter against Bank of America because
they do not identify any facts, internal documentation or other contemporaneous information
indicating that Bank of America did not believe the statements in its analyst reports, knowingly
or recklessly made any misstatements in the Registration Statements or was aware of accounting

fraud by Enron. BofA Mem. at 22.
23

NYOLIB1\NIR\245727.04



A. Plaintiffs Must Plead A Strong Inference of Scienter Regardless
of Which Subsection of Rule 10b-5 They Purport to Invoke

Faced with the recognition that their Complaint falls far short of pleading with the
requisite particularity facts that would show that Bank of America acted with scienter, Plaintiffs
try to dilute the pleading requirements of the Reform Act with a supposed distinction between
liability for securities fraud based on alleged misrepresentations or omissions (Rule 10b-5(b)),
and securities fraud based on an alleged fraudulent “scheme” or “course of business (Rule 10b-
5(a) and (c)). Opp. at 94. Plaintiffs concede, as they must, that either theory requires scienter.
Id. (“It is clear that for section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5 liability to attach under either theory,
scienter must be present, i.e. either intentional or reckless conduct”) (emphasis in original).

Notwithstanding this concession, Plaintiffs proceed to argue that much less is required to
plead scienter when a “scheme” is alleged. Opp. at 95-98 (claiming that a defendant may have
“scheme” liability “even if he did not interact with all the other participants, was unaware of the
identity of each of the other participants, did not know the specific roles of the other participants
in the scheme, did not know about or participate in all of the details of each aspect of the scheme,
or joined the scheme at a different time than the other participants). Plaintiffs base this new
watered-down theory of scienter on a host of pre-Reform Act criminal conspiracy cases and
conclude that since an agreement is necessary for criminal conspiracy but is not required for
“scheme” liability under Section 10(b), the requirements for civil liability in the securities
context must be even lower. Opp. at 96.

Plaintiffs’ theory cannot be reconciled with the plain language of the Reform Act or the
way that Courts throughout the country — including this Court — have interpreted the Reform Act.
Instead of grouping all defendants together as part of a supposed “scheme” for scienter purposes,
the Reform Act is clear that with respect to each individual defendant Plaintiffs must “state with
particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required
state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2) (emphasis added). Indeed, this Court has required

plaintiffs to meet the pleading standards of the Reform Act in cases where they have purported to

24

NYOLIBI\NIR\245727.04



plead a fraudulent scheme. 25 Inre Landry’s, slip op. at 39-52; BMC Software, 183 F. Supp. 2d
at 885-86, 916 (applying Reform Act and dismissing claims for failure to adequately plead

scienter).26

B. Plaintiffs Fail to Allege A Strong Inference of
Conscious Misbehavior or Severe Recklessness

Plaintiffs have no factual support to show Bank of America acted in a consciously
reckless manner so they ask the Court to presume that Bank of America, based upon its normal
business activities as an underwriter, lender and investor, must have been aware of Enron’s
precarious financial position and of the alleged scheme to defraud.?” They seek to base Bank of
America’s scienter on its purported extensive and close business relationship with Enron. Opp.
at 93, 105. That argument is nothing more than impermissible scienter by presumption and fails
to establish any specific knowledge obtained by Bank of America, or how and when it was

obtained.?® Any theory of scienter that simply assumes that a defendant acted with the requisite

25 In fact, Plaintiffs’ theory is belied by their Opposition. Every post-Reform Act case
that Plaintiffs cite in support of their cause of action for a “scheme to defraud” acknowledges and
applies the standards for pleading scienter set forth in the Reform Act. No such case recognizes
or suggests some lesser state of mind requirement. See In re Health Mgmt., 970 F. Supp. at 199-
200; In re Livent, Inc., Noteholders Sec. Litig., 174 F. Supp. 2d 144, 149 (SD.N.Y. 2001); Inre
Waste Mgmt., slip op. at 19-20 n.7; Lemmer, 2001 WL 1112577, at *1; McNamara, 2001 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 4571, at *16 (E.D. Tex. Mar. 30, 2001).

26 Moreover, permitting a lesser standard for scienter based on the supposed existence of
a “scheme” would be at odds with this Court’s determination — joined in by courts all over the
country — that “the group pleading doctrine is at odds with the Reform Act and has not survived
the amendments.” BMC Software, 183 F. Supp. at 902 n.45.

27 Allegations that defendants “must have known” are insufficient. See, e.g., Abrams,
2002 WL 1018944, at *5 (allegations that defendants must have known about internal problems
based on positions within company fail to establish scienter); Compag, slip op. at 47 (allegations
that officers of company “must have had knowledge” insufficient to give rise to scienter);
Lemmer, 2001 WL 1112577, at *9 (allegations of position and access to non-public information
insufficient to satisfy Reform Act); In re Baker Hughes Sec. Litig., 136 F. Supp. 2d 630, 648
(S.D. Tex. 2001) (vague allegations that senior officers had access to non-public information
about company’s financial status required identification of specific reports); Schiller v.
Physicians Resource Group, Inc., No. Civ.A. 3:97-CV-3158-L, 2002 WL 318441, at 10 n.9
(N.D. Tex. Feb. 26, 2002) (plaintiffs required to allege the type and content of information to
which high level officers and directors of company had access).

28 Plaintiffs’ reliance upon In re Livent, 174 F. Supp. 2d 144 is misplaced. Opp. at 101-
03. In Livent, the complaint alleged the existence of a specific, secret side agreement
contradicting the publicly disclosed terms of an agreement between the underwriter and the
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state of mind conflicts with the Reform Act and the holdings of this Court. BofA Mem. at 25-26,
27 n.31. See Inre Landry'’s, slip op. at 66; BMC Software, 183 F.3d at 915 (dismissing
defendants where complaint did not show “what information they knew, or when and how they
learned it”).

Nor may Plaintiffs base scienter on loans made by Bank of America to Enron. Cplt. Y
779-80. Plaintiffs know such allegations are inadequate so they try to supplement them with the
general assertion that, under federal laws and regulations as well as its own procedures, Bank of
America would have conducted a “an extremely detailed review and analysis of the actual
financial condition and creditworthiness of the borrower. . . .” Opp. at 103-04; see also Opp. at
45, n.33 (citing Cplt. § 650). The Complaint, however, never states if such an analysis was done,
who conducted it, what documents were reviewed and what was learned. Absent such
particularized factual pleading, there can be no strong inference of scienter based on bank loans
or the loan process.??

Similarly, Bank of America executives alleged investment in the LIM2 partnership does
not raise a strong inference of scienter. Opp. at 48, 99-101; BofA Mem. at 28-29. Plaintiffs do
not even establish that Bank of America or its executives did invest in LIM2. Even assuming
there was such an investment (there was not), the Complaint does not specify what Bank of

America learned as a result or when it barred it. Thus, there is no strong inference of factual

company, which the underwriter agreed not to disclose to Livent’s new management. Id. at 147.
No secret side agreement between Enron and Bank of America, or anything analogous, is alleged
in the Complaint.

29 Scholnick v. Schechter, 152 F. Supp. 1317, 1323 & n.9 (E.D. Mich. 1990) is inapposite.
Opp. at 39. Plaintiffs again rely on a pre-Reform Act case that does not reflect the heightened
standards of the Reform Act and is no longer good law. Moreover, in Scholnick, the bank’s
knowledge was based on more than its normal lender activities — it knew the that money
deposited into an account was in fact the money plaintiffs invested in the company, and the bank
specifically agreed to use the proceeds in as repayment of the principal’s indebtedness to the
bank. Id. at 1322. The bank also loaned money to some of the individual investors and served as
an escrow agent for certain partnership offerings and the complaint alleged when the bank
entered into the alleged scheme, who participated, why the parties made the arrangement and
how and when it was carried out. /d. at 1318, 1325. In contrast, Plaintiffs here allege nothing
more than Bank of America’s participation in a “routine commercial financing,” which Scholnick
recognizes does not alone establish Section 10(b) liability. Zd. at 1323 n.9.
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knowledge of fraud or severe recklessness because Plaintiffs do not plead any facts giving a
strong inference Bank of America was aware of LIM2’s allegedly fraudulent purpose. Plaintiffs’
statement that Bank of America’s investment in the partnership was “obviously intentional
conduct” is irrelevant, establishing at best an intentional decision to invest in LIM2. Opp. at 99.
Such a decision does not suggest Bank of America’s awareness of the fraudulent scheme or of
any information that would sufficiently establish the necessary scienter.

Weaker still is Plaintiffs’ suggestion that Bank of America must have had actual
knowledge of fraud because the investment returns for LJIM2 were so high that even “poor Mr.
Skilling” recognized in hindsight that they had to be due to fraud. Opp. at 100-01. Apart from
the irony of Plaintiffs’ reliance on Mr. Skilling’s testimony to salvage their case, no such
allegation is contained in the Complaint. As this Court has recognized, argument in briefs
cannot supplement allegations missing from a Complaint. BMC Software, 183 F. Supp. 2d at
915. In addition, as Plaintiffs recognize, this is classic fraud-by-hindsight. Moreover, Mr.
Skilling’s after-the-fact observations have no bearing on Bank of America’s state of mind, which
is the only relevant inquiry here.3 Plaintiffs have utterly failed to allege specific facts raising a
strong inference that Bank of America had knowledge of fraud or acted with severe recklessness.

Plaintiffs’ allegations that Bank of America’s securities analysts issued false reports as
“intentional participation in the falsification of Enron’s financial results are also conclusory and
insufficient. Opp. at 94. The Complaint simply does not allege that the authors of the analyst
reports were aware of any information that would make their statements false or misleading or
that would suggest that they intentionally or recklessly falsified their reports. BofA Mem. at 21,

26-27. Absent such allegations, Plaintiffs have not adequately alleged scienter.

30 Skilling’s conclusion was based upon review of a particular report and presentation on
LIM2 to investors. The Complaint does not allege the existence of any such report or
presentation, let alone whether anyone from Bank of America attended the presentation, or
received the report or the specific information in that report which purportedly would have made
it evident af the time that the purpose of the partnership was fraudulent. Absent such allegations
in the Complaint, any attempt to base knowledge on the LIM2 investment presentation fails.
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Finally, Plaintiffs’ attempt to impute knowledge between Bank of America’s securities
analysts and its commercial and investment banking divisions (Opp. at 106-09) is of no
consequence because the Complaint does not allege any facts known by anyone in one division
of Bank of America that could be imputed to someone in another division of the company. BofA
Mem. at 26 n.29.3!

Plaintiffs’ attempt to distinguish this case from all previous cases on the basis that the
repeal of the Glass-Steagall Act in 1999 allowed banks to act as both commercial and investment
bankers, creating conflicts of interest and sharing of information within the banks, is equally
ineffective. Opp. at 43 n.31, 103. The Glass-Steagall Act had already been “whittled down a
great deal” by 1993, at which point banks were “increasingly permitted to deal in investments
that are unquestionably ‘securities’ in non-fiduciary situations.” Simpson v. Mellon Bank, No.
CIV. A.93-4722, 1993 WL 524784, at *6 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 17, 1993). Plaintiffs’ recitation of
media accounts of this purported phenomenon and their assertion that “Chinese Walls” are
ineffective are not substitutes for specific factual allegations that anyone at Bank of America
obtained any information, let alone it shared it with others in the firm. At bottom, the Complaint
lacks the particularized facts necessary to comply with the Reform Act and show the requisite
“strong inference” of scienter on the part of Bank of America.

C. Plaintiffs’ Motive and Opportunity Allegations Fail

In the Fifth Circuit, allegations of motive and opportunity alone are not sufficient to plead
the requisite “strong inference” of scienter. Abrams, 2002 WL 1018944, at *4; see also
Nathenson, 267 F.3d at 412. To the extent motive and opportunity allegations are considered,

the allegations in the Complaint do not establish a “strong inference” of scienter against Bank of

31 Plaintiffs’ citation of numerous cases relating to the so-called “collective knowledge
doctrine” and respondeat superior is yet another example of their effort to import a wholly
unrelated body of law into the context of the securities laws, in which state of mind issues are
governed by the well-established standards of the Reform Act. Notably, not a single case cited
by Plaintiffs in support of their argument addresses the issue in the context of securities fraud.
The “collective knowledge doctrine” is also irrelevant because the Complaint does not specify
any knowledge on the part of anyone at Bank of America.
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America. BofA Mem. at 22-24. Without distinguishing any of the Bank of America’s
authorities — or citing any cases of their own — Plaintiffs recycle their now familiar claims of
motive based upon fees, Bank of America’s alleged investment in LIM2 and Bank of America’s
supposed effort “to keep Enron afloat.” Opp. at 109-110. All three theories remain deficient.

It is not enough to claim that financial services firms, such as Bank of America, were
motivated to commit fraud to obtain underwriter and consulting fees, interest payments and other
payments that are a natural result of their everyday work. BofA Mem. at 22. Courts consistently
foreclose attempts to plead scienter based on such a generic motive. See e.g., Melder v. Morris,
27 F.3d 1097, 1103 (5th Cir. 1994) (dismissing claim based on underwriters’ motive to receive
fees, expenses and discounts in connection with offering); Schiller, 2002 WL 318441, at *9
(accountant’s motive to collect fees insufficient to plead scienter); McNamara v. Bre-X Minerals
Ltd, 57 F. Supp. 2d 396, 423 (E.D. Tex. 1999) (investment bank’s motive to collect advisory
fees insufficient to plead scienter).32

Plaintiffs’ argument that Bank of America had a motive to commit fraud based on its
supposed investment in LJM2 is even more disingenuous. First, there is no factual basis for the
allegation that Bank of America invested in LIM2. Second, even if Bank of America had
invested in LJM2, however, that investment could not be the basis for a “strong inference” of
scienter because Plaintiffs do not allege that Bank of America was aware of LJM2’s improper

purpose.33 The Complaint also fails to allege particular facts relating to the concrete benefits

32 In yet another example of Plaintiffs’ exaggerations of the allegations in the Complaint,
the Opposition claims that Bank of America “had made and was making hundreds of millions” in
fees (Opp. at 37), but the Complaint alleges that Bank of America obtained “millions of dollars a
year” in fees (Cplt. 1 780).

33 The Opposition is replete with assertions relating to Bank of America’s supposed
involvement in LIM2 that are simply not found in the Complaint. See, e.g., Opp. at 37, 43-44,
48-49, 94, 99, 101, 109, 112. Plaintiffs may not simply impute conduct to “Bank of America”
based upon generalized allegations in the Complaint relating to the banks as a group.
Allegations in the Complaint regarding the structuring of Enron partnerships are conclusory and,
in most instances, do not specifically identify Bank of America. See BofA Mem. at 28 n.33.

Nor can Plaintiffs use their Opposition to provide facts missing from the Complaint. As this
Court has held, “it is axiomatic that the Complaint cannot be amended by the briefs in opposition
to a motion to dismiss.” BMC Software, 183 F. Supp. 2d at 915.
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obtained from the investment. BofA Mem. at 23 & n.23. Thus, the LIM2 allegations lack the
particularity, or the persuasive force, to support any inference of scienter, much less the requisite
“strong inference.”

Plaintiffs save perhaps their weakest motive argument for last. Bank of America was
supposedly motivated to commit fraud to sustain the fraudulent scheme in which it was involved.
Opp. at 37-38; 109-11. Not surprisingly, Plaintiffs cite no authority for this theory. Even if the
Court were to accept Plaintiffs’ argument at face value, it does nothing to explain why Bank of
America would risk the consequences of committing securities fraud in the first place. More
importantly, Plaintiffs still have no reasonable answer as to why Bank of America would put its
capital at risk in the form of loans to Enron if it knew of, or even suspected, fraud by Enron.
BofA Mem. at 23 n. 22, 24; Melder, 27 F.3d at 1104 n.10. No rational bank would loan money
to Enron under such circumstances and, of course, allegations of irrational or illogical “motives”
cannot support a finding of scienter. BofA Mem. at 24; Thornton v. Micrografx, 878 F. Supp.
931, 938 (N.D. Tex. 1995); Schmidt v. Fleet Bank, Nos. 96 Civ. 5050(AGS), 96 Civ. 7836
(AGS), 96 Civ. 9705 (AGS), 96 Civ. 9706 (AGS), 1998 WL 47827, at *6, 10 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 4,
1998) (banks do not have motive to participate in Ponzi scheme because participation “could
subject the banks to civil liability and loss of business reputation. Ponzi schemes are doomed to
collapse and while an individual may be able to escape with the proceeds of a Ponzi scheme, a
bank cannot. Thus, participation in the scheme would not appear to be in the banks’ economic
interest) (internal citations omitted); Ray v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., Civ. A. No. CV-
92-5043 (DGT), 1995 WL 151852, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 1995) (motive for involvement in
“ponzi scheme” in order to recoup loans with entity defendant knew to be insolvent was illogical

and insufficient).34

34 The Complaint alleges in conclusory fashion that Bank of America limited its risk
(Cplt.  780), but the facts alleged in the Complaint suggest just the opposite. BofA Mem. at 24
n.25. Plaintiffs claim that the banks’ financial exposure to Enron was limited because Enron’s
$3 billion commercial paper back-up credit line would likely not be drawn down upon. Cplt.
9 19; Opp. at 10 n.11. This does not explain why, according to Plaintiffs, Bank of America made
at least three additional loans to Enron between 1998 and 2001 (Cplt. § 779; Opp. at 46) or why
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To the extent Plaintiffs claim Bank of America committed fraud to obtain repayment of
loans made to Enron, they fail to allege any particularized details regarding which loans were
outstanding at the time of alleged misstatements and omissions, which proceeds from which
offerings were allegedly used to pay down the debt and when such actions supposedly occurred.
BofA Mem. at 23-24. Absent such details, these allegations remain guesswork, and are

inadequate for pleading fraud.

V. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO STATE A SECTION 11
CLAIM AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA

A. Plaintiffs Fail to State Their Section 11
Claim With The Requisite Particularity

Recognizing the inadequacy of their claims, Plaintiffs have voluntarily abandoned their
Section 11 claims with respect to the 7% Exchangeable Notes and the 8.375% Notes. Opp. at 4
n.9, 51 n.38. Despite their protests, Plaintiffs’ sole remaining Section 11 claim regarding the

May 1999 7.375% Notes is pled so inadequately that it must also be dismissed.35

1. Rule 9(b) Applies To Plaintiffs’ Remaining Section 11
Claim Against Bank of America Because It Sounds In Fraud

Plaintiffs attempt to avoid their pleading obligations by selectively incorporating only
certain paragraphs of the Complaint and offering a routine disclaimer that their 1933 Act claims
do not sound in fraud. Their efforts, however, do not insulate their Section 11 claim from the
requirements of Rule 9(b). As this Court has noted, “boilerplate disclaimers of fraud are not
dispositive of whether a claim under the 1933 Securities Act sounds in fraud.” Compag, slip op.
at 75; see also In re Stratosphere Corp. Sec. Litig., 1 F. Supp. 2d 1096, 1104 (D. Nev. 1998)

(plaintiff cannot avoid application of Rule 9(b) requirements to Section 11 claim by inserting

it was involved in securities offerings and investments relating to Enron in light of its supposed
awareness of Enron’s precarious financial condition.

35 In addition, since no representative plaintiff purchased 8.375% Notes at any time, the
Section 10(b) claim with respect to this transaction must be dismissed for lack of standing.
Plaintiffs do not explain why they have not conceded this claim despite abandoning their Section
11 claim with respect to this transaction, nor do they provide any response to the argument set
forth in Bank of America’s moving brief. BofA Mem, at 4, 35-36.
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boilerplate language into complaint). Here, Plaintiffs include just such a boilerplate disclaimer
in an attempt to side-step the requirements of Rule 9(b). See Cplt. § 1005 (“plaintiffs expressly
exclude and disclaim any allegation that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional or
reckless misconduct™).

Moreover, Plaintiffs’ incorporation in their Section 11 claim of only 69 of the 1000-plus
paragraphs in their Complaint rings hollow in light of its theme that the Defendants participated
in a fraudulent scheme or course of business. See, e.g., Cplt. Y 773, 774. Indeed, Plaintiffs
discuss Bank of America’s alleged Section 11 liability in the same paragraph that they discuss its
alleged participation in the “scheme to defraud” through its role as underwriter of securities
offerings involving allegedly misleading Registration Statements. Cplt. § 781. Plaintiffs’
attempts to disclaim these allegations, which are “intrinsically demonstrative of fraud,” cannot
insulate their Complaint from the requirements of Rule 9(b). Compag, slip op. at 75.

Plaintiffs’ attempts to analogize their Complaint to those addressed by the Fifth Circuit in
Lone Star Lady’s Inv. Club v. Schlotzsky’s, Inc., 238 F.3d 363 (5™ Cir. 2001) and by this Court in
In re Landry’s are also unwarranted. In Schlotzsky's, the Fifth Circuit held that the proposed
amended complaint, which included only claims under the 1933 Act and expressly did not assert
fraud, was not subject to Rule 9(b).3¢ Here, the Complaint is replete with allegations of fraud
and assertions that the bank defendants knew that Enron’s offering documents were false and
misleading. Plaintiffs’ attempt to equate their disclaimer of only certain specified paragraphs in

their Complaint to the complete disavowal of all allegations of fraud in the Schlotzsky s

36 As this Court noted in Compag, the decision in Schlotzsky s was “based on the specific
facts in that case.” Compag, slip op. at 75 n. 27. The facts of this case are easily distinguishable.
In Schlotzsky s, the Fifth Circuit reviewed the district court’s denial of leave to file an amended
complaint following dismissal on 9(b) grounds. Noting that “a district court is not required to
sift through allegations of fraud in search of some ‘lesser included’ claim of strict liability,” the
Court held that the proposed pleading, which brought only claims under the 1933 Act and
expressly “[did] not assert that defendants [were] liable for fraudulent and intentional conduct
and disavow[ed] and disclaim[ed] any allegation of fraud,” should have been allowed. Here, the
Court — and Defendants — are forced to “sift through the allegations” in precisely the manner that
the Fifth Circuit criticized. In such a situation, the Complaint should be dismissed. Schlotzsky'’s,
238 F.3d at 368.
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complaint is baseless. See Opp. at 51 n. 37. Thus, Plaintiffs’ reliance on Schlotzsky s is
unfounded.

Similarly, in Landry’s, this Court reaffirmed that “where §11 claims sound in fraud rather
than negligence,” Rule 9(b) should be applied. In re Landry’s, slip op. at 59 (citing Melder, 27
F.3d at 1100 n.6); In re Stac Electronics Sec. Litig., 89 F.3d 1399, 1405 & n. 3 (9" Cir. 1996).
Although this Court ultimately did not apply Rule 9(b) to the Section 11 claims in Landry s, it
noted that the decision in Schlotzsky s mandates that Rule 9(b) does not apply only where “a
complaint does not allege that the defendants are liable for fraudulent or intentional conduct.”
Landry s, slip op. at 11 n. 13. Here, the Complaint abounds with allegations “that the defendants
are liable for fraudulent or intentional conduct.” Therefore, all of Plaintiffs’ claims, including
their Section 11 claim, are subject to the requirements of Rule 9(b).

The 500-plus page Complaint contains only ten references to the offering of 7.375%
Notes, seven of which simply list Plaintiffs who purchased the Notes or banks that allegedly
underwrote the Notes.37 Cplt. 4 81(a), 81(c), 718, 765, 776, 1006, 1007. The vast majority of
Plaintiffs’ support for their allegation that the registration statement and prospectus for the
7.375% Notes contained misstatements or omissions is alleged in paragraphs of the Complaint
which allege fraud, thereby subjecting Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim to Rule 9(b). See, e.g., Cplt.
9 70 (alleging that the “fraudulent scheme” was “designed and/or perpetrated only via the active
and knowing involvement of... Enron’s banks, including... Bank of America”); 9 393 (same);
9 155 (listing the purportedly “true but concealed facts” that allegedly rendered statements issued
between 10/21/98 and 7/6/99 false or misleading). Indeed, in their Opposition, Plaintiffs cite to

Paragraphs 418-611 of the Complaint, which contain numerous allegations of fraud. In light of

37 Although the Opposition correctly notes that the 7.375% Notes offering took place
pursuant to a prospectus supplement filed in May 1999 (Cplt. § 1006), it also contradicts the
Complaint by claiming that this offering was made pursuant to registration statements filed in
August 1999 and May 2000 (Opp. at 28, 47). Plaintiffs are confused. As they alleged in their
Complaint, the 7% Exchangeable Notes offering took place in August 1999 and the 8.375%
Notes offering took place in May 2000. (Cplt. § 1006; BofA Mem. Appendix Exh. 1).
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these allegations, Plaintiffs’ attempted disclaimer is disingenuous. Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim

should be required to comply with Rule 9(b).

2. Plaintiffs’ Allegations Against Bank of America Based On
Alleged Misstatements In Registration Statements and
its Due Diligence Investigation Fail to Satisfy Rule 9(b)

As discussed above, Plaintiffs do not specify any false and misleading statements by
Bank of America in any Registration Statement, much less that for the 7.375% Notes. They do
not link Bank of America with the allegedly misleading statements, describe its role in the
offering, specify its knowledge and when it acquired that knowledge, or provide a factual basis
for their allegations. See supra Point II. D. Accordingly, those allegations fail to comply with
Rule 9(b) and should be dismissed.

Plaintiffs also fail to explain how they make the leap from Enron’s restatement to Bank
of America’s allegedly inadequate due diligence investigation. Plaintiffs’ Opposition cannot
remedy their failure to plead any details concemning the scope of Bank of America’s due
diligence, and the Complaint offers no factual support for Plaintiffs’ claim that Bank of
America’s due diligence was purportedly deficient. In particular, the Complaint fails to identify
specific information communicated to Bank of America by document or conversation or
uncovered by it in the course of its investigation that it chose to ignore. The Opposition, like the
Complaint, merely sets forth conclusory allegations that Bank of America “did not make a
reasonable and diligent investigation” of the statements in the Registration Statements and
Prospectuses. Cplt. § 1013; Opp. at 52.

As discussed in Bank of America’s moving brief, such unsubstantiated allegations that an
underwriter defendant failed to discover problems during due diligence, or discovered and chose
to ignore them lack the specificity necessary to satisfy Rule 9(b). See BofA Mem. at 37-38;
Eickhorst, 706 F. Supp. at 1092-93 (Rule 9(b) not satisfied where plaintiffs failed to offer any

facts or circumstances supporting due diligence allegations); In re Valence, 1996 WL 37788, at
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*12. As Plaintiffs’ have not met their burden under Rule 9(b), their remaining Section 11 claim

should be dismissed.38

V1. PLAINTIFFS CONCEDE THAT THEIR CLAIMS BASED UPON CERTAIN
TRANSACTIONS ARE TIME-BARRED AND ALSO EFFECTIVELY CONCEDE
THAT BANK OF AMERICA DID NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 15 OR 20(a)

Plaintiffs concede that they are barred from seeking damages against Bank of America
for any time period prior to April 8, 1999. Opp. at 41. Their allegations based on the
Registration Statements for Enron’s November 1997, May 1998, December 1998 and February
1999 offerings and a September 1998 credit facility must therefore be dismissed. See Lampf,
Pleva, Lipkind, Prupis & Petigrow v. Gilbertson, 501 U.S. 350, 364 (1991); Summer v. Land &
Leisure, Inc., 664 F.2d 965, 968 (5 Cir. 1981). Plaintiffs cite no support for their assertion that
these time-barred transactions should be considered at the pleading stage to establish a scheme in
violation of Section 10(b). Instead, they rely solely on criminal mail fraud and sexual
harassment cases which address admission of evidence at trial. In any event, Plaintiffs plead no
facts demonstrating any fraudulent conduct with respect to these transactions by Bank of
America.

Plaintiffs’ claims under Section 15 of the 1933 Act and Section 20(a) of the 1933 Act
should also be dismissed. Bank of America established in its moving papers that since it did not
have the power to control Enron, the individual Enron defendants or Andersen, it could not be

held liable as a control person. The Opposition does not contain any response.

38 Plaintiffs also try to shift the Court’s attention away from their own pleading
obligations by focusing on Bank of America’s burden to demonstrate that it performed an
adequate due diligence investigation. Bank of America’s burden does not arise until after
Plaintiffs have adequately pled their claim. Since the Complaint is insufficient, Bank of
America’s burden does not arise.
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CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons and for the reasons stated in Bank of America’s opening
brief, this Court should dismiss the Complaint against Bank of America in its entirety, with

prejudice.
Respectfully submitted,

BROBECK, PHLEGER & HARRISON LLP

By: > / Q‘@?‘% 4 '.
G%gory A M&Rx! ({9 hac vice)*

(Attorney-in-Charge)
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Certificate of Service

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that on the 24™ day of June, 2002, a true and correct copy of
the foregoing was served on all counsel, as listed in Exhibit A, pursuant to the Court’s April 4,
2002 Order.
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